IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

SILVERWING DEVELOPMENT, a Nevada corporation; J CARTER WITT III, an individual,

Electronically Filed Nov 22 2019 08:51 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellants,

Supreme Court No.: 79134

VS.

NEVADA STATE CONTRACTORS BOARD

Respondents.

APPEAL FROM JUDICIAL REVIEW OF ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR WASHOE COUNTY, NEVADA HONORABLE ELLIOT SATTLER, DISTRICT JUDGE

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Michael S. Kimmel (NV Bar 9081) Hoy Chrissinger Kimmel Vallas P.C. 50 W. Liberty Street, Suite 840 Reno, Nevada 89501 775-786-8000 mkimmel@nevadalaw.com

Jurisdictional Statement

This is an appeal from a district court order denying a petition for judicial review of an administrative decision. Such an order is appealable under NRS 233B.150.

The appeal was timely because the order denying the petition for judicial review was filed on June 21, 2019 (6 A.App. 1281); there was no written notice of

3

entry of the order filed by the NSCB; and the notice of appeal was filed on July 3, 2019. 6 A.App. 1289.

Routing Statement

This appeal is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court under NRAP 17(a)(11) and (12). This appeal involves the constitutionality of a statute. This is an issue of first impression involving the United States and Nevada Constitutions. Additionally, this is an important issue of statewide significance and public importance.

Statement of Issues

- 1. Whether NRS 624.220(2) is unconstitutionally vague, violating due process.
- 2. Whether NRS 624.220(2) violates equal protection, because it treats similarly licensed contractors differently, without a rational basis.
- Whether the NSCB used its advisory opinion process in violation of a Nevada constitutional provision that precludes a delegation of power to an administrative agency.
- 4. Whether the decision by the ALJ was supported by substantial evidence on the issues of whether there was a subdivision site and a single construction site in this case.

Statement of the Case

The petition for judicial review was filed on January 17, 2019, challenging an administrative decision of the NSCB. 1 A.App. 1-5. After full briefing, the district court remanded the matter to the ALJ for clarification. 6 A.App. 1233. The ALJ then issued clarification (6 A.App. 1259), and the district court entered its order denying the petition for judicial review on June 21, 2019. 6 A.App. 1289. This appeal followed.

Statement of Facts

The facts in this matter were largely undisputed. Appellant Witt is the President and Qualifying Officer of appellant Silverwing Development (Silverwing). 1 A.App. 40. Silverwing maintains an unlimited monetary license and has developed thousands of homes, thousands of apartments, and over one billion dollars worth of commercial properties. 1 A.App. 40; 4 A.App. 940:10-12. Silverwing acted as the general contractor on the four projects at issue in this case, projects which are owned and were developed by Witt. 4 A.App. 915:22–916:4.

Silverwing has held the same unlimited license in Nevada for nearly two decades, and Silverwing never received a single citation from the NSCB prior to this case. 4 A.App. 945:12-18. There have been no claims of default on debts, failure to pay subcontractors, or failure to comply with any city and/or county obligations and bonds, despite the severity of the recent recessions. *Id.* Over the

course of nearly two decades in Nevada alone, Silverwing has developed approximately 2,000 lots and homes, constructed approximately 1,400 multifamily units, and brought numerous commercial projects to completion—all of which have provided a direct benefit to the public and the communities in which the developments were built. 2 A.App. 498-99; 3 A.App. 580-84; 4 A.App. 940:4-12.

Silverwing developed four projects at issue in this case: Edgewater at Virginia Lake Apartments and Edgewater at Virginia Lake Condos (collectively Edgewater); Fountainhouse at Victorian Square (Fountainhouse); and The Bungalows at Sky Vista (Bungalows). 3 A.App. 682-88. Witt was also an owner and managing member of the projects, each of which is comprised of multiple, separate buildings. 3 A.App. 538-41. Each building required its own separate submittal with unique municipal building department fees, plan checks, permits, inspections (city and private), and certificates of occupancy. 3 A.App. 677-80; 4 A.App. 942-45.

Silverwing did as is customary in the industry—it engaged subcontractors to perform work at the projects, and some of these subcontractors performed work on multiple buildings or sites within one project over an extended period of time. Mechanically, Silverwing set up its contracts with a schedule of values that delineated how much work a particular subcontractor would perform on each

6

building that received its own building permit within a particular project, and no subcontractor was guaranteed a right to perform work on every building. E.g., 4 A.App. 921-22. In doing so, Silverwing believed and understood that each site permitted and inspected separately was to be treated as a separate construction site, for purposes of subcontractor license limitations. 4 A.App. 943:23—945:9. The NSCB has not alleged, and the record does not reflect, that any of the subcontractors exceeded their license limit on a single permitted and inspected building. The alleged violations are premised on the aggregation of work across permitted buildings within the larger project as a whole.

NSCB received an anonymous tip regarding potential license limit violations for a subcontractor (1 A.App. 42), and on July 14, 2017, more than one year after the NSCB initiated its investigation, the NSCB filed its Complaint alleging four causes of action against Silverwing. 1 A.App. 25. The first and second causes of action alleged 30 violations each, premised on the application of NRS 624.220(2). 1 A.App. 26-31. The third and fourth causes of action alleged three violations each, premised on the use of a B-2 residential and small commercial contractor as a framing subcontractor. 1 A.App. 32.

Silverwing answered the Complaint, challenging the constitutionality of NRS 624.220(2). 2 A.App. 483-490. The contested administrative hearing was held on September 28, 2017. 4 A.App. 782. The key witness was Jeff Gore, who

7

had worked as a compliance investigator for the NSCB for only three years. 4 A.App. 851:18-21. Gore expressly conceded that, for purposes of determining whether a subcontractor is violating a license limitation, there is no statute or administrative regulation defining the phrase "single construction site," and similarly, there is no statute or administrative regulation defining the phrase "subdivision site." 4 A.App. 904-906. Gore conceded that he relies entirely on his own personal experience in determining whether there is a violation of the statute.

Q. When you go out and make your determination based on your investigation as to whether it is a single construction site or multiple construction sites, you are making that determination just based on your own experience, correct?

A. That is correct.

4 A.App. 906:5-11.

The ALJ appeared to be surprised by this testimony, and the ALJ asked his own follow-up question, "just to make sure I do understand." 4 A.App. 906:16-17.

HEARING OFFICER PRO:

Are there any other written guidelines you have, manuals, guide books, things that you have that you employ to make those determinations as to construction sites, subdivision site? MR. GORE: No.

4 A.App. 906:25—907:4.

In a decision dated December 21, 2017 (ALJ Decision), the ALJ found that Silverwing, although it did not act with the intent to evade the law, had knowingly violated the law with respect to the allegations in the first and third causes of action. 4 A.App. 767-76. Silverwing was ordered to pay the minimum fine of \$1,000, per violation, or a total of \$33,000, plus \$28,739 for the NSCB's attorney fees and costs. 4 A.App. 775-76. The ALJ also dismissed the second and fourth causes of action. 4 A.App. 776.

Silverwing sought judicial review, alleging, among other things, that the statute forming the basis for the alleged violations was unconstitutionally vague and was applied in an unconstitutional manner. 1 A.App. 1-5. Silverwing demonstrated that the NSCB had previously conceded that one aspect of NRS 624.220(2) is ambiguous (3 A.App. 506), and that even the Legislative Counsel Bureau (LCB) opined that "there is a need for clarification of the law." 3 A.App. 670. The district court remanded the case to the ALJ for clarification. 6 A.App. 1233-41. The ALJ issued the clarification, essentially reaching the same conclusion that he had previously reached. 6 A.App. 1255-57.

By all accounts, NRS 624.220(2) allows the NSCB to find violations based solely on the individual predilections of an investigator; and the statute lacks the specificity and clarity necessary to facilitate compliance with the law by licensees at the point of contract, and to facilitate the NSCB's reasonable application of the law after contract. Nonetheless, the district court affirmed the ALJ decision. 6 A.App. 1281-87.

Summary of Argument

There is no evidence in the record that any court, the Legislature, the Legislative Counsel Bureau, or even the NSCB, has ever published an opinion or legislative history of any kind that supports the application of NRS 624.220(2) in the manner in which it was applied to Silverwing in this case.

It is unfathomable to conclude that a statute can be of sufficient specificity as to give a person of ordinary intelligence a reasonable opportunity to know what is prohibited while concurrently also being so vague that several governmental agencies, multiple attorneys representing a variety of parties, and highly sophisticated developers cannot agree on its meaning. Yet, that is exactly what has happened in this case.

As articulated below, NRS 624.220(2) is unconstitutionally vague on its face because it cannot be applied without using additional criteria or subsidiary rules, neither of which exists in the statute as written, in any regulation, or in case law. As applied to Silverwing, the statute is also unconstitutionally vague because there was know way for Silverwing to know that the NSCB would use a different phrase from a different statute (NRS 278.320(1)) as a means to explain away the vagueness of the licensing statute. The vagueness of NRS 624.220(2) was compounded by the NSCB's attempt to usurp the legislative process through the creation of subsidiary rules. Additionally, the NSCB's new interpretation and application of NRS 624.220(2) is not rationally related to a legitimate government interest because it aggregates all work performed by a licensee for a single client in a subdivision, in perpetuity. In doing so, the NSCB's interpretation ignores the public policy behind limits and instead permanently punishes licensees for prior work that was performed correctly, on time, and on budget.

Standard of Review

The determination of whether a statute is constitutional is a question of law, which the Nevada Supreme Court reviews de novo. *Flamingo Paradise Gaming, LLC v. Chanos*, 125 Nev. 502, 509, 217 P.3d 546, 551 (2009). Questions of statutory construction are reviewed de novo. *Franks v. State*, 135 Nev. ___, 532 P.3d 752, 754 (2019). Even in the context of judicial review of an administrative ruling, where deferential review might otherwise be applied, this court reviews issues of law de novo, including issues of statutory construction. *City of Reno v. Yturbide*, 135 Nev. Adv. Op. 14, 440 P.3d 32, 34-35 (2019).

Argument

I. NRS 624.220(2) violates Silverwing's right to Due Process because it is unconstitutionally vague both facially and as applied to Silverwing.

A facial challenge to a statute only requires the potential for enforcement; an as-applied challenge arises where the government enforces the provisions of a statute against a party. Even if a facial challenge fails, the law may be challenged as applied once the government attempts to enforce the law. *Flamingo Paradise Gaming, LLC*, 125 Nev. at 519 n. 14, 217 P.3d at 558 n. 14. Silverwing challenges both the facial and as applied constitutionality of NRS 624.220(2).

The Nevada Supreme Court presumes that all statutes are valid, and "the burden is on the challenging party to demonstrate that a statute is unconstitutional." *Cornella v. Justice Court,* 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 58, 377 P.3d 97, 100 (2016); *Flamingo Paradise Gaming,* 125 Nev. at 509, 217 P.3d at 551 (both citing *Silvar v. District Court,* 122 Nev. 289, 292, 129 P.3d 682, 684 (2006)). While the challenging party "generally bears the burden of demonstrating that there is no set of circumstances under which the statue would be valid," if a heightened level of scrutiny applies, "the general presumption regarding a statute's constitutionality is reversed, and the State bears the burden of demonstrating the statute's constitutionality." *Deja Vu Showgirls v. State, Dept. of Tax.,* 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 73, 334 P.3d 392, 398 (2014).

The Nevada Supreme Court has adopted a two-prong test for examining whether a statute is unconstitutionally vague in violation of the Due Process Clause:

A law may be struck down as impermissibly vague for either of two independent reasons: (1) if it fails to provide a person of ordinary intelligence fair notice of what is prohibited; or (2) if it is so standardless that it authorizes or encourages seriously discriminatory enforcement.

Carrigan v. Comm'n on Ethics of State, 129 Nev. 894, 899, 313 P.3d 880, 884 (2013) (internal citations and quotations omitted). Under the first prong of the vagueness test, "[A] statute will be deemed to have given sufficient warning as to proscribed conduct when the words utilized have a well settled and ordinarily understood meaning when viewed in the context of the entire statute." *Nelson v. State*, 123 Nev. 534, 540–41, 170 P.3d 517, 522 (2007) (quoting *Williams v. State*, 118 Nev. 536, 546, 50 P.3d 1116, 1122 (2002)). When statutory language has ordinarily understood meanings, the court applies those meanings to define the limits of the statute.

Under the second prong of the vagueness test, in order to avoid discriminatory enforcement of a criminal statute, the Legislature must "establish minimal guidelines to govern law enforcement." *Kolender v. Lawson*, 461 U.S. 352, 358, 103 S.Ct. 1855, 75 L.Ed.2d 903 (1983) (quoting *Smith v. Goguen*, 415 U.S. 566, 574, 94 S.Ct. 1242, 39 L.Ed.2d 605 (1974)). The statute may not be so standardless that it "authorizes or encourages seriously discriminatory enforcement." *Carrigan v. Comm'n on Ethics of State*, 129 Nev. 894, 899, 313 P.3d 880, 884 (2013) (internal citations and quotations omitted). This prong is more important than the first prong because otherwise "a criminal statute may permit a standardless sweep, which would allow the police, prosecutors, and juries

to 'pursue their personal predilections.'" Silvar, 122 Nev. at 293, 129 P.3d at 685 (quoting *Kolender*, 461 U.S. at 358, 103 S.Ct. 1855).

While the first prong of the test guides parties who may be subject to potentially vague statutes, the second prong guides the enforcers of the statutes. *Silvar*, 122 Nev. at 293, 129 P.3d at 685.

The degree of vagueness that the Constitution tolerates—as well as the relative importance of fair notice and fair enforcement—depends in part on the nature of the enactment. Civil laws are held to a less strict vagueness standard than criminal laws because the consequences of imprecision are qualitatively less severe.

Carrigan v. Comm'n on Ethics of State, 129 Nev. at 899, 313 P.3d at 884 (2013) (internal citations and quotations omitted).

Although a violation of NRS 624.220(2) does not itself give rise to criminal charges, a heightened facial analysis is appropriate because violations can result in the deprivation of a licensee's property (monetary penalties) and loss of ability to make a living (loss of the contractor's license).

A. NRS 624.220(2) is vague on its face.

There is a difference between vagueness and ambiguity. Vagueness exists when there is no clear meaning to a word or phrase, thus requiring additional subsidiary rules to provide the specificity necessary for legal application. For example, the word "tall" is vague in the absence of some additional criteria or subsidiary rules. Ambiguity, however, exists when a word or phrase with more than one clear meaning is used, thus requiring the interpreter to look to the context of use to resolve the ambiguity. For example, the word "cool" is ambiguous because context is required to determine whether the word is used to describe temperature or social attractiveness. Words and phrases can be ambiguous, vague, both, or neither.

While the word cool is ambiguous and vague on its own, when used in the phrase "the temperature of the refrigerator must be cool," the word "cool" is no longer ambiguous because the phrase clarifies the context. But, the word "cool" in the phrase "the temperature of the refrigerator must be cool" is still vague because it requires additional subsidiary rules to provide the specificity necessary for application (for example, whether 40 degrees is "cool" enough in a refrigerator). In the absence of additional subsidiary rules, persons of ordinary intelligence are without a reasonable opportunity to know at what temperature "cool" is achieved because the word does not have a well-settled and ordinarily understood meaning in the context of the example provided. Moreover, if an investigatory body was tasked with determining whether the temperature of refrigerators were cool, the potential for discriminatory enforcement (or inconsistent enforcement by different based upon their own personal predilections) would be investigators, impermissibly high.

The phrases "single construction site" and "subdivision site," as used in NRS 624.220(2), are vague. The NSCB's December 14, 2015 Advisory Opinion (the Tesla Opinion) analyzed, in part, NRS 624.220(2). 3 A.App. 504-508. The NSCB's own Tesla Opinion found: "The Board deems the language of phrase 2, 'single construction site,' as ambiguous because the phrase is subject to more than one reasonable meaning." Id. (emphasis added). However, if the phrase single construction site were only ambiguous, the context of the statute might help resolve the ambiguity. Because the phrase is also vague (there is no well-settled and ordinarily understood meaning of the phrase single construction site when viewed in the context of the entire statute), the Tesla Opinion devised a set of subsidiary criteria or rules to articulate when the NSCB would apply the rules. The Tesla Opinion's own conclusion confirmed that at least one part of NRS 624.220(2) fails for vagueness.

After the NSCB issued its Complaint against Silverwing, but before the administrative hearing, the NSCB changed its position and alleged, for the first time, that all of Silverwing's condominium projects were statutory subdivision sites instead of single construction sites. 4 A.App. 800-801. The NSCB obviously did so because it recognized the implications of the Tesla Opinion and its prior admission that the phrase "single construction site" is vague and ambiguous. *Id.*

However, the phrase "subdivision site" is no less vague and ambiguous than the phrase "single construction site."

Because there is no statutory or judicially created definition of "subdivision site" in NRS Chapter 624 or NAC Chapter 624, the NSCB asked the ALJ to rely on the definition of "subdivision" found in NRS 278.320(1), which is in a completely different and inapplicable chapter of the Nevada Revised Statutes. But, NRS Chapter 278 is a planning and zoning chapter, not a contractor licensing law chapter.² Specifically, NRS 278.320(1) is a general provision addressing the subdivision of land, and it defines a statutory "subdivision" as:

[A]ny land, vacant or improved, which is divided or proposed to be divided into five or more lots, parcels, sites, units or plots, for the purpose of any transfer or development, unless exempted by law.

Therefore, because an NRS 278.320(1) statutory subdivision is composed of <u>land</u> divided into five or more lots, parcels, <u>sites</u>, units or plots, an individual NRS 624.220(2) subdivision <u>site</u> must necessarily be something less than an actual subdivision; a subdivision <u>site</u> must be a smaller piece of the entire subdivision. Yet, there is no statutory definition for what constitutes that piece. Neither NRS Chapter 624 nor NAC Chapter 624 defines what is, or is not, a site.

² The Court may take judicial notice of the fact that the Nevada State Contractors Board's own website omits any reference to NRS 278.320 in its provision of Rules, Regulations, and Statutes to licensees and the general public. www.nvcontractorsboard.com/rules/html.

By concluding that "subdivision site" and "subdivision" are synonymous, the NSCB and the ALJ necessarily rendered superfluous the word "site" as it is used both in NRS 624.220(2) and NRS 278.320(1). Rules of statutory construction mandate that "every word, phrase and provision in the enactment has meaning." Law Offices of Barry Levinson, P.C. v. Milko, 124 Nev. 355, 366-67, 184 P.3d 378, 386–87 (2008) (internal citations and quotations omitted). Had the Legislature intended aggregation of license limits across an entire statutory subdivision, the word "site" would have been completely unnecessary and superfluous, and the Legislature would have omitted the word "site" from the phrase "subdivision site" in NRS 624.220(2). Had the Legislature not intended a "site" to be a smaller piece of an NRS 278.320(1) statutory subdivision, it would have omitted the word "site" from the definition of types of pieces of land, five or more of which are required to create a statutory subdivision. The plain language of NRS 624.220(2) clearly does not contemplate the aggregation of work across an entire statutory subdivision, or across multiple sites (plural) within the same statutory subdivision; aggregation is only contemplated on a subdivision site (singular).

B. NRS 624.220(2) is vague as applied to Silverwing.

Even where a statute is not unconstitutionally vague on its face, it can be unconstitutionally vague as applied to a particular party. *Flamingo Paradise*

18

Gaming, LLC, 125 Nev. at 519 n. 14, 217 P.3d at 558 n. 14. If a statute is admittedly vague and ambiguous, there is no basis upon which to determine that someone violated the statute based on a specific set of facts. Here, those facts are not hypothetical.

Silverwing was charged with multiple purported violations of NRS $624.3015(3)^3$ based on the license limits of numerous subcontractors, and the effect of aggregating the work of those subcontractors on separate projects that had separate building permits, because all work was performed for one client, Silverwing. Simply, the purported violations turned first on whether the work was performed on one construction site, a phrase that the NSCB agreed required subsidiary criteria or rules for application, and then on the NSCB's conflation of an NRS 278.320(1) subdivision with an NRS 624.220(2) subdivision site. It was both rational and reasonable for Silverwing to conclude, at the point of bid and contract, that separate buildings requiring separate submittals, separate building permits, separate fees, separate inspections, and separate certificates of occupancy, constituted separate sites for purposes of determining subcontractor license limitations, regardless of whether one or multiple written contracts exist.

³ "Knowingly bidding to contract or entering into a contract with a contractor for work in excess of his or her limit or beyond the scope of his or her license."

NSCB Compliance Investigator Jeff Gore testified about NRS 624.220(2) at the NSCB hearing. Mr. Gore could not, did not, and never even attempted to, articulate any well settled and ordinarily understood meanings of either the phrase "subdivision site" or "single construction site." 4 A.App. 904-906. Unequivocally and without any hesitation, Mr. Gore testified that (1) the phrase "single construction site" is not defined anywhere in Nevada Revised Statutes or the Nevada Administrative Code; (2) the phrase "subdivision site" is not defined anywhere in Nevada Revised Statutes or the Nevada Administrative Code; and, (3) that there are absolutely no internal written guidelines, manuals, or guide books that he uses (or that contractors and subcontractors can reference) to determine whether something is a "single construction site" or "subdivision site." Id. The record is devoid of any indication that Mr. Gore's investigation included an analysis, on any level, of whether the projects at issue were single construction sites, subdivision sites, statutory subdivisions, or even whether the subcontractors were concurrently performing work on multiple sites.

The four projects at issue in this case were each comprised of multiple, separate buildings on separate sites. 3 A.App. 538-541. Each building required its own separate submittal with separate and unique municipal building department fees, separate plan checks, separate permits, separate inspections (city and private), and separate certificates of occupancy. 4 A.App. 942-945; 3 A.App. 677-680.

20

Mechanically, Silverwing set up its contracts with a schedule of values that delineated how much work a particular subcontractor would perform on each permitted building (site) within a particular project, and no subcontractor was guaranteed a right to perform work on every building (site). 4 A.App. 921-922; 2 A.App 250-426. In doing so, Silverwing reasonably believed and understood that each site, permitted and inspected separately, was a separate site. 4 A.App. 943-945. There was <u>NO</u> contrary evidence in the record before the ALJ or District Court.

By his own admission, Mr. Gore was (and is in all cases involving NRS 624.220(2)) left with nothing more than his own personal subjective experience or predilections as the guiding factor to determine whether the work at issue involved a single construction site, a subdivision site, or neither. Legally, a statute may not be so devoid of adequate guidelines as to permit the enforcers of the statute to pursue their personal predilections. *Silvar*, 122 Nev. at 293, 129 P.3d at 685 (the second prong of the vagueness test). Moreover, when a statute is without ordinarily understood meanings, there is no way for a court to define the limits of the statute. *Id.* (the first prong of the vagueness test).

C. The NSCB's issuance of the Tesla Opinion as an attempt to cure the vagueness of NRS 624.220(2) was an unconstitutional delegation of Legislative authority.

Because NRS 624.220(2) could not be applied based on its own language, the NSCB attempted to deal with the constitutional dilemma by issuing the informal Tesla Opinion, instead of adopting administrative regulations through statutory procedures for such regulations. That opinion improperly established internal criteria through which license limit issues would sometimes be examined.

When a license limit issue turns on the meaning of "single construction site" -- for example when a licensee facing potential discipline for bidding or performing work under multiple contracts for a single client in excess of its limit, asserts that its bids or work for a single client relate to separate construction sites -- the Board considers various criteria in deciding the question in harmony with the Legislature's intent for creating license limits.

3 A.App. 506. Nonetheless, the NSCB's own investigator testified that he was not aware of any internal criteria or test and did not even apply the Tesla Opinion to Silverwing. 4 A.App. 904-906.

There is a profound difference between an agency interpreting NRS 624.220(2), and an agency creating a test that will be applied after the fact (using admittedly subjective factors that will vary in weight at the whim of the agency or its individual investigators). According to the NSCB, the Tesla Opinion is nothing more than a declaratory order disposing of a petition and elaborating how NSCB

staff interprets and applies the statute for the benefit of the public. 3 A.App. 648-

649. The Legislative Counsel Bureau disagreed:

Accordingly, we regard the Tesla opinion as an example of "ad hoc rulemaking," or an ineffectual attempt to adopt a regulation without complying with the notice, hearing and approval process set forth in chapter 233B of NRS. While we mention the opinion at various points in this letter where we think it is instructive, we do not believe that it has any legal force or effect.

3 A.App. 666.

The public is entitled to protection against discriminatory and arbitrary actions of public officials. 16A Am. Jur. 2d Constitutional Law § 312. That public protection is at the heart of the nondelegation doctrine and it is exactly why the NSCB may not informally create interpretive orders enumerating factors to be used in the enforcement of a statute against contractors, instead of adopting an administrative regulation under the Nevada Administrative Procedure Act, NRS Chapter 233B. If the statute, either on its face or as applied to Silverwing, lacks the specificity to determine if/when it should be applied, then it fails as a matter of law. The NSCB cannot cure the statute's deficiencies through the use of an informal and internal test that is not published and is not readily available to contractors (such as Silverwing) against whom the NSCB attempts to enforce the statute and impose fines and license-threatening penalties.

The purpose of the doctrine that legislative power cannot be delegated is to assure that truly fundamental issues will be resolved by the legislature and that a grant of authority is accompanied by safeguards adequate to prevent its abuse. The nondelegation doctrine insures the protection of citizens against discriminatory and arbitrary actions of public officials, and it provides the assurance that duly authorized, politically accountable officials make fundamental policy decisions.

16A Am. Jur. 2d Constitutional Law § 312. The Legislature may only vest an agency with "mere fact finding authority and not the authority to legislate." *McNeill v. State*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 54, 375 P.3d 1022, 1025–26 (2016)(internal citations and quotations omitted). In the *McNeill* case, the Nevada Supreme Court recognized that "Because the Board has no authority to impose conditions not enumerated in NRS 213.1243, the nonenumerated conditions the Board imposed on McNeill were unlawful, and McNeill did not violate the law when he failed to comply." *Id.*

Here, the NSCB not only created previously nonenumerated conditions or criteria for analyzing a potential violation long after private citizens have entered into a contract, it created criteria the weight and importance of which will vary from situation to situation. That is exactly what the nondelegation doctrine seeks to prevent. D. The *Chevron Doctrine* does not save NRS 624.220(2) from its unconstitutional vagueness.

At the district court, the NSCB argued that the *Chevron Doctrine*⁴ and its Nevada counterparts precluded independent review of NRS 624.220(2). 5 A.App. The Chevron Doctrine requires courts to give deference to statutory 1030. interpretations made by those government agencies charged with enforcing the statutes, unless such interpretations are unreasonable. However, the Chevron Doctrine is far from absolute. A court must determine if the agency's position is based on a permissible construction of the statute. If, for example, the agency's position is unconstitutionally vague, the Chevron Doctrine is of no effect. Valenzuela Gallardo v. Lynch, 818 F.3d 808, 819 (9th Cir. 2016). A court is not bound to accept and apply an unconstitutional interpretation of a statute simply because the agency, to justify its own actions, has chosen to do so. See, generally, F.C.C. v. Fox Television Stations, Inc., 567 U.S. 239, 132 S. Ct. 2307, 183 L. Ed. 2d 234 (2012). Nor is a court bound to accept and apply an interpretation that "is nothing more than a convenient litigating position" or a "post hoc rationalization advanced by an agency seeking to defend past agency action against attack." Christopher v. SmithKline Beecham Corp., 567 U.S. 142, 155, 132 S. Ct. 2156, 2166, 183 L. Ed. 2d 153 (2012) (internal citations and quotations omitted).

⁴ Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837 (1984).

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