Michael S. Kimmel (NV Bar 9081)
2 Theodore E. Chrissinger (NV Bar 9528)
.| SOW. LibertySt, Suite 840
Reno, Nevada 89501
4| 775.786.8000 (voice)
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3 . .
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iES IN THE MATTER OF: Tnvestigative Case No.: 30042873
225 i |
Q é 4 Respondent's Closing Brief
e % ¢ ||  SwvERWING DEVELOPMENT, ] CARTER WITT IIJ,
% % |4| Presidentand Qualified [ndividual, Continued Hearing Date: 09/28/2017
. . License No. 44017 Continued Hearing Time: 8:30 a.m.
e
18 RESPONDENT.
19
20
21 Respondent's Closing Brief
22 Silverwing Development and | Carter Witt I1I (collectively, "Respondent™) hereby file
23 _
their Closing Brief.
24
R
x|
o7| /I
28

AApp.740 |~

f

2 A i




R

HOY | CHRISSINGE

19
20
21

22

23

24
25
26
27

28

D. The “Chevron Doctrine” Empowers the Board’s Interpretation of NRS 624.220(2)

in this Case.

In 1984, in Chevron U.S,A., Inc. ) Namral Resources Defense Council, Inc., 467 U.8, 837

(1984), the Supreme Court handed down a landmark decision in administrative 1,aw.

jurisprudence. The Chevron Court held that when a court reviews an ageﬁcy’s construction of
a statute it is charged to adminis{er, it is confronted with two questions. ‘Chevron at 842, First
and atways, is the question Whether the legislature has dii'ectly spoken to the preciee question

at iséue. d I yes, th:—it is the end of the mqu_try for the court and the agency, and the court

. must give effect to the unamblguously expressed intent of the legislature, Id. at 842-43.

Second, if the court determines ‘the leglslature has not d.trecﬂy addressed the precise question

at issue, the court may not impose its own cpnstructlon of the statute, as would be necessary
in the absence of an adminlistrative interpretaﬁon. fd. et 843. Rather, the court must. inquire
if the agency’s p_osit:ioln'is. based on a.‘ p.ermissible construction of the statute. Id. In other words,
a court may not substitute its own construction ef_ an ambiguous statutory ‘provision for a
reasonable mterpretatlon made by the agency. Id. at 844.

The Nevada Supreme Court recogmzed the Chevron Doctrine in a case similar to this one

with respect to deference to adzmmstratwe mterpretatlons In Thomas v. City of N. Las Vegas, |

two police officers who were dlscha:ged arbitrated their gnevances with the City., Thomas v.
City of N. Las Vegas, 12! P.3d 1057, 1060 (Nev. 2006). The co]lectrve bargalmng agreement

between the parties required the arbitration to be governed by the Federal Mediation and

Conciliation Services (*FMCS®) rules. 1. at 1062. The arbltrator ruled that the City’s d_lscharge

of the oﬁicers was Justlﬁed. Id. The a:bltrator, however, failed to d.tsclose his membership on |

arbitration p'a.nelé for Metro, its unions and other Orgénizations.' Id. On that basis, the officers

moved to vacate the arbitration awards. Id.

On appeal, the parties debated whether the arbitrator had a duty to disclose his panel |

membership and whether his failure to do so demonstrated evident partiality. Id. at 1069, The
Court 'énalyzed the arbitrator’s duty under FMCS guidelines, which utilized the “Code of

Professional Responsibility for Arbitrators of Labor-Management Disputes” {the “Code”) for its

A.App.762
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| Id. at 1070. The .City cited “Opinion No. 227 from the National Acad\ez'ny of Arbitrators that had

{| that basis ruled in favor of the City. Id.

arbitrators. Id By design, the Code does not have a;rly bright liné rules for disclosure. Id

Instead, the facts and circumstances of each case must be weighted when determining whether

the standards have been violated. Id. : ' ' ;
The Code requires arbiirators to disclose “any close ﬁei‘sonal relaﬁoﬁship' or other

circumstance. . . which might reasonably raise a question as to the arbitrator’s impartiality.”

interpreted the disputed Code provision in its favor.” Id. The Court, citing Chevron, deferred to

Opinion No. 22 as the equivalent of an agency interpretation of the FMCS guidelines, and on

Like the Code de_séribéd in the Thomaﬁ case, it 1s entirely possible and in fact implicit?,
that the Legislature chose ﬂ1e ph.fase “single c;onstructio'n site” in NRS 624.220(9;) to give the
Board the flexibility to interpret the phrase based on the facts and ciréumstances O_f each case,
The Tesla Opinion does not provide any "rules” or formulae for deciding whether construction
activity is omi a “si.ﬁgle construction sife” or multiple éonstructio_n sites. All the Tesla Opinion
does is explain how the Board looks at the issue for the benefit of the public. The faﬁts and
circumstances vary with each case. . | |

The Chevron Doctrine requires all tribunals to defer to the Board’s interpretation of any
and all ambiguous words and phrases in NRS 624.22ﬁ(2] 50 loﬁg as the Board’s interpretation
is reasonablé. Respectfully, the Board’s assertion that multi—building construction projects in
the same area, under a common name, under the szme owner, under the same general

contractor, with construction of buildings oécu:ring progressively and simultaneously, and with.

subcontracts covering the entire development or multiple buildings constitutes a “single |

construction site”ru.nder NRS 624.220(2} is a reasonable i.nterprétatipn under the second prong

of Chevron.

3 Chevron at 843 {*Sometimes the legislative delegation to an agency on a particular guestion is
implicit rather than explicit. In such a case, a court may not substitute its own construction of]
a statutory provision for a reasonable interpretation made by the administrator of an agency.”

5

A.App.763
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. m
CONCLUSION

In summary, the ALJ should construct the phrase “subdivision site” NRS 624.220(2) to

mean the place where a subdivision exists. The ALJ should not apply the criminal “rule of | |

lenity” in this matter. The ALJ should not interpret the Board’s decision to not respond to
Sﬂvenmng s facial challenge to NRS 624. 220 under the equal protectmn clavse as a waiver of
the a.rguments it will make at the appellate level Finally, the Chevron Doctrme requires the

ALJ to defer to the Board’s reasonable mtexpretahon and application of NRS 624.220(2) in this

NOAH G. ALLISON, PROSECUTING ATTORNEY
NEVADA STATE CONTRACTORS BOARD '

case,